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Attorneys for Plaintifs: PX., minor by and through her parent and proposed guardian ad ftem; and

7 [GK minor by and through his parent and proposed guardian ad litem.
8
5 SUPERIOR COURT OF THESTATEOFCALIFORNIA
i COUNTY OF VENTURA

11 ||P. 2 minor individual by and through her Case Not
parc and proposed gusrdian ad litem

12||BETHANEE KUSHNER; G.K.,aminor COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
individual by and through his parent and propos

13|| guardian ad fitem BETHANEE KUSHNER. 1. Violation of First Amendment Rights, as
applied to the states under the

1 Plaintiffs, Fourteenth Amendment
2. Violation of Article I Section 2) of

15 vs. Califoraia State Consiitution
3. Violation of Section 48907ofCalifornia

16|[VENTURA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT a Education Code
public entity; LORELLE DAWES, an individual;

17||JENNIFER BRANSTETTER, an individual; and| DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
DOES I through 10, Inclusive,

18 Complaint fled:
Defendants. Assigned

19 Trial date: None set.
2
2 PK. a minor by and through her proposed parent and guardian ad litem BETHANEE

HC 22 |[KUSHNER, and G.K., a minor by and through his proposed parent and guardian ad litem BETHANEE

© 23||KUSHNER hereby brings th following Complaint for injuries and damages against Defendant, Ventura
24 [| Unified School District (refered to as “Ventura Unified,” or “VUSD, a public entity, LORELLE
25||DAWES, an individual, JENNIFER BRANSTETTER, on individual and other as of yet unknown
26| entities and individuals.
2 |i
2 |i
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1 PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

2 1. Atall times relevant to the claims asserted herein, Plaintiffs P.K. and GK. were minor
3||students residing in the countyof Ventura, Califor, and within the jurisdiction of the Ventura Unified
4||Schoo! District. Av all times relevant to the claims asserted herein, P.K and G.K. were minor students

5|| attending Cabrillo Middle School. a public educational institution within the Ventura Unified School

6 [| District located in the Countyof Ventura, California. As students at Cabrillo Middle School, Plaintiffs

7 ||P. and G.K. are subject to the authority and directivesof Defendants
8 2. Atthe timeoffilingof this Complaint, P.K. and G.K. have not yet attained the age of

9 [| majority and are stil attending Cabrillo Middle School. Their idenrities should not be made public due
10|| to their young ages. Plaintiffs’ identities have been disclosed to Defendant simultaneous to the service of

11 |[his Complaint on a separate document that should not be made a partof the public fle.

12 3. PK. aminor, brings this complaint, by and through her parent and proposed guardian ad
13 [|titem, BETHANEE KUSHNER

jo) 4. GK.aminor, brings this complaint, by and through his parent and proposed guardian ad

15 lem, BETHANEE KUSHNER
16 S. Plaintiffs’ claims are timely as prescribed by California Government Code § 910 as they
17 {| have been filed within six monthsof Defendant's rejection of their submitted tort claims.
18 6. Au all times relevant to this action. Defendant VENTURA UNIFIED SCHOOL
19||DISTRICT (*VUSD") was and is a school district headquartered in Ventura County, Califomia. VUSD

20 is a “State” as defined by the California Constitution, Astcle 1, Section 31, subdivision (1), organized
21||pursuant to the laws of California. VUSD received and continues to receive state and federal financial

22 assistance. Further, VUSD is the legal entity responsible for provision of educational services (0 students
23 [residing within their jurisdiction.
2% 7. Defendent LORELLE DAWES is an individual who at all times mentioned herein was a
25|| resident of Ventura County working the Principal of Cabrillo Middle School. She is vested with the

26|| authority to discipline students at Cabrillo Middle School at her discretion and to enforce the polices of
27|| Cabrillo Middle School and the VUSD.
28 {|r
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1 8. Defendant JENNIFER BRANSTETTER is an individual who at all times mentioned

2||herein was the Vice Principal at Cabrillo Middle School. She is vested with the auttority to discipline
3||students at Cabrillo Middle School at her discretion and to enforce the policies of Cabrillo Middle
4 {| School and the Ventura Unified School District.

5 9. Atall times relevant hereto, VUSD and its employees, directors, and agents, including

6 [|without timation Defendants JENNIFER BRANSTETTER and LORELLE DAWES, were acting in

7|| their individual and official capacities and under the color of law of te stateofCalifornia.
3 10. Plaintiffs assert that Califomia Goverment Code § 815.2(2) provides a statutory basis

9 {| for the causesofaction sounding in tort. Goverment Code§815.2(a) states, “A public entity is liable
10 for injury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope

11 ||ofhis employment if the act or omission would, apart from this section, have given tise to a cause of
12 | action against that employee or his personal representative.”

1» 11. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or otherwise, of
12||Defendants and Does 1 through 100. inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues said

15|| Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffis informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that each of
16 the Defendants fictitiously named herein as a Doe is legally responsible in some manner for the events

17 ||and happenings hereinafter referred to and proximately thereby caused the injuries and damages 10
15|| Plaintiffashereinafter tleged. Plaintiff will seek leaveof Court to amend this Complaint to se forth the
19|| true names and capacities of said fictitiously named Defendants when the same shall have been

20 ascertained.
21 12. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that at ali times mentioned herein,

22|| Defendants, and each of them, including DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, were the owners, agents.
23 |[servants, employees and/or joint venturersofeach co-defendant and were, as such, acting within the
24 || course, scope and authorityof said agency, employment and/or joint venture, and that cach and every

25 |Defendant as aforesaid, when acting as a principal, was negligent in the selection and hiring of each and
26|| every other Defendant as an agent, employee and/or joint venture.
2 13. The actions complained of herein occured with the State of California, County of
28| Ventura

3
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1 FACTUAL HISTORYANDGENERALALLEGATIONS
2 14. Atal relevant times hereto, Defendant Ventura Unified School District had the duty and
3|| authority to effectuate the policics and customsofVUSDandto implement and execute all federal, state
4 [and VUSD regutations and/or policies relevant to the operation ofa public school
s 15. On or about March 18, 2022, a group of Cabrillo Middle School students wanted to have
6 [|a tunchtime concert at school and play an anti-crack cocaine song they had written. The leader of the
7||band purporting to play the song identifies himselfas “Lil Pickle.”
8 16. When the Cabrillo Middle School staff and administrators observed a large group of
9 || students headed to one outdoor location on campus, they summoned the police, believing something
10 | nefarious was taking place. Upon viewing the spontaneous performance, the administration dispersed
11 |the crowd and sent “Lil Pickle” home for the day. School administrators confiscated students’ phones
12 {and auempted to persuade students to delete any recordings or photographsof the performance from
13 their phones or else face detention or other administrative punishment.
1 17. The weckend following the incident at the school, Plaintiff G.K. borrowed a friends
15 || computer and a t-shirt hest-press and made t-shirts with the slogan “Justice for Lil Pickle” to sell and
16 distribute via social media to his peers. He sold approximately 40ofte t-shirts to students and teachers
1 18. On March 21. 2022, GK. and his younger sister,PlaintiffP.K., wore their “Justice for Lil

18| Pickle" tshirts o school, along with 5 to 10 other students who had already received their t-shirts.
) 19. When the vice principal, Defendant JENNIFER BRANSTETTER, saw the “Justice for
20|| Lit Pickle * shirts, she approached G.K. during nutrition and demanded that he either remove the t-shirt
21 |]orbe sent home from school.
2 20. GK. refused to remove the t-shirt. So, JENNIFER BRANSTETTER called his father, a.
23|| Santa Barbara Police Department (SBPD) Captain, who informed JENNIFER BRANSTETTER that he
24 {supported whatever decision that G K. wanted to make. GK. ultimately decided to put a sweatshirt over
25I his shirt and go take his math test.
2 |[ir1
27 {fir
28 {[11/
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1 | 21. Defendant LORELLE DAWES soon realized that many other students were wearing

2 [ste for Lil Piekie™ shins and instructed those students 10 remove the t-shirts or cover then.
5 ||Approximately six studenis complied with th principal's wishes and wore gym shirts for th rest ofthe
4 day. except for PK.
5 20. PK. refused 1 cover hr tshirt and exercised he first amendmen righ to fee speech
6 23. Vice principal JENNIFER BRANSTETTER told P.K. that if she continued to refuse to
7 |coverher t-shirt or remove i, she would be sent home. She still refused and her parents were called to
8|| pick her up.
9 3 Pais se informed snd bles snd bused tren lige tht Deda LORELLE |
10 VUES ta sth sn of th co S4 hleEints JENNIFER SRANSTETVER |
11 [was personaly offended with use of the word “Justice” related 0 the individuals in theperfomance and |
12 {{the conduct the school took regarding the performance. 1

3 25. Nothing in VUSD's published dress code prohibits students from wearing vshirs like
14 [those which Plaintiffs wore, as they were not disturbing class work.
15 26. Defendants, and cachof them, continte to insist on banning any dress or ate that relaes
16 |[10 or mensions the Lil Pickle incident. An zctual controversy now exists over th rights of Plaintiffs to
17|express themselves through their choiceofdress.
18 27. tn the weeks that followed. the Defendents LORELLE DAWES AND JENNIFER
19||BANSTETTER banicd the use of the word “pickle” and the display of pickle-related imagery from
20 [school and threatened to discipline students who displayed pickle insignia on pins and fice paint as
21 [| some had begun to do for fun
2 28. In the months that followed the incident Plaimiifls became the targets for undue and
23| neighvened scrutiny for their innocuous daily activities. For example. Plainiff G.K. was threatened with
21| detention for ating in a certain sector of the school and was told by a school adminsscator hat they
25| would make sure any misconduct on his part followed him to high school |
2 29. Asa direct and proximare result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs hav lost educational |
27 pportniies, tot th freedom to exersse thi Fist Amendment rights, lost educations] nition |
25 ime, nd suff smtonl diss nan mous to be proven i

5.



I
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1 FIRST CAUSEOF ACTION
2 Violationof Constitational Right to FrecdomofSpeech
3 Cited States Constitution, First Amendment; 42 USC.§ 1983
4 (Against All Defendants)
s 30. Phinifs re-allege and incorporate by this refeence all of the preceding paragraphs in
6 [his Complaint as though flyset forth.
7 31. The US. Constitution grents citizens protections for free specch under the First |

8 {| Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, whicharcenforced via 42 USC § 1983.
9 32. Defendants, and eachofthem, have deprived, and are comsinuing to deprive, Plaintifs of
10{[ei ighs t ie spec, securedto themby the Fist Amendment ofthe United States Constitution. |
u 33. By instructing GK. and PX. that they are prohibited rom wearing non-vulgar clothing |
12|cxprsing messges aout hei en's frsdom 1 ply music on campus, Dfendrs and csc of|
13 them, violated, and are continuing to violate, Plaintiffs rights to free specch and expression, 3s
14 guaranteedbythe U.S. Constitution.
1s 34. In depriving Plaintiffs ofthese rights, Defendarts, and each of them, acted under calor of
16 {state law. This deprivation under color of state aw is actionable under and may be redressed by 42
17 [usc g 198
is 35. An sctual controversy now exists over the rights of Plaintiffs to express themselves
19. through thei choiceofcress and Plaintiffs seek a declaration of thei rights as well s an injunction
20 | against Defendants’ continued efforts to limit thei freedom of expression. Moreover, as a dirt and
21 | proximate result of Defendants' conduct alleged herein, Plainiffs hav lost educational opportunites.
22| tot th freedom 0 exercise their First Amendment righs, lost educational instruction ime, and suffered
23| emotional distress duei par to public humiliation by the Defendants in an smount to be proven at tril
2 SECONDCAUSEOFACTION
2s Vilationof Constitutional Right to Freedom of Speech
2 Article I, Section 2(a) of the California State Constitution
z (Against All Defendants)
2 56. Plainifs reallege and incorporateal ofthe preceding paragraphs in this Complaint |

“
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1 37. While the U.S. Constitution grants citizens protections for fice speech under the First

2||Amendment o the U.S. Consision, the Califa Constiuion alo proces ths ight. Avil 1.
3||Section 2 of the California Constitution states that "[e]very person may frecly speak, write and publish

4 || his or her sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuseofthis right..."

5 38. Defendans, and ach of them, deprived, and are continuing 1 deprive, Panis of he
6 lights secured o them by the Clifomia Stats Consiaion
7 39. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein violated Plaintiffs’ right to freedom of speech

8 [under Article1, Section 2ofthe Califomia Constitution.

9 0 An scual convoversy now exis over th rights of Pamiffs to express themselves
10 [[through their choice ofdress and Plaintiffs seek a declaration of their rights as well as an injunction

11 [{ against Defendants’ continued efforts to limit their freedom of expression. Morcover, as a direct and

12 {proximate result of Defendants” conduct, lini have ost educational opportune, lost the freedom
13 {lio excise her Fist Amendment rights, lost educational insirction time, and suffered emavion!
1" distress due in part to public humiliation by the Defendants in an amount to be proven at trial.

5 THIRD CAUSEOF ACTION |
© Violation of Section 48907 of California Education Code |
uw (Against Al Defendants)
i 41. Plains reallege and incorporate all of he preceding paragraphs in tis Comply
19 42. Section 48907ofthe California Education Code states in relevant part, that public school

20|| students “shall have the right to exercise freedomof specch andofthe press including, but not limited to.

21 [the use of bulletin boards, the distribution of printed materials or petitions, the wearing of butions.

22||badges. and other insignia, and the right of expression in official publications, whether or not the

23|| publications or other meansofexpression are supported financially by the schoo! or by use of school

24|| facilities, except that expression shal! be prohibited which is obscene, libelous, or slanderous. Also

25||prohibited shall be material that so incites pupils as to create a clear and presen: danger of the

26||commissionof unlawful acts on school premises or the violation of lawful school regulations, or the

27 {| substantial disruption of the orderly operationof the school.” Defendants deprived, and arc continuing to

28 deprive, limits of hee righs secured 0 them by he Education CodeofCalfomi
a

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES



' 43. The stement, “Jusiice for Lil Pickle” on Plaintiffs’ shirts ar simply an expression of
2 |[Praintffs views and desie to have fun with he situation. No precedent existed 10 show this wearing

and diiionofesi wilh is mesg was nian hat ny silent sion would oe o a
+{1any students or staff were in danger. The expression is not vulgar nos obscene and has not caused a
5|| disturbance. Plaieuifs expression is fully protected by this provision.
6 44. The only disruption related to Plondffs' tshirts was that which was caused by
7{| Defendants when Plaintiffs were removed from class and were ordered to change thir shirts
8 45. By prohibiting Plaintiffs from wearing thei shirs, Defendants violated Plainifs’ rights
9{|10 freedomofexpression under Education Code § 48907

10 46. Defendants did not lose control of the schoo! a the performance did not incite pupils (0
11 {| create clear and present danger. Upon the termination of the performance, students were ordered back.
12|{ 10 class and all of them complied
u 47. An acuel controversy now exists over the rights of Plaintiffs to express themselves
14 {through ther choice of dress and Plaintiffs seek a declarationof thei rights as weil as an injunction
15|| against Defendants’ continued cffors to limit thir freedom of expression. As a direct and proximate
16 | resul ofDefendants’ condos, Plaiifls have lost educational opportunites, lost the fiesdom 10 exercise
i | heir First Amendment rights, lost educational instruction te, and suffered emotions] distress due in
18 { orto public bumilition by the Defendants in an amount to be proves at rie.
| PRAYER FOR RELIEF
201 Asto all causes of ction, Panis es th following remedies
21 | 1. An order declaring that the Defendanis violated thePlaindfT'srights protected under the
22 {Fst Amendment of the Unied Sises Consirion, the California Constitution, and Califor
23 || Education Code §§ 48907 and 48950.

2 2 An order preliminarily and then permanently enjoining Defendants and their employees
25 land ait other persons or entiie in ative concert or privity or participation with them, from restraining,
26| prohibiting, or suppressing the Plaintiffs or any other student within Vemiura Unified School District
27 |rom wearing a shir, button, or sticker that states “Justice for Lil Pickle." or similar expressions of
2||viewpoints, pursuant to reasonabletime, place, and manner resritions;

&
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1 3. An order directing Defendans to take such affirmative steps necessary to remediate the

2|| past restraints to Plaintif°s expression through the statement on her shirt, including, but not limited to
3 {|notifying in writing and training the Cabrillo Middie School student body and school officials within the
4 {|Ventura Unified School District that all students are permitted to wear a shir, button, or sticker that

5||states “Justice for Li Pickle.” or similar expressions, pursuant to reasonable time, place, and manner

6[|estsictions:
7 4. An order enjoining Defendants and theirofficers, agents, affiliates, subsidiaries, servants.

8 |employees and ait other persons or enites in active concer: or privity or participation with them, from
9 | 1aking retaliatory action against Plaintiffs or their parents for bringing this lawsuit or for advocating for
10|| heir free speech rights;

1 5. For compensatory damages according to proof.

2 6. An award to Plaintiffof reasonable atiomeys' fees and costs incurred in connection with
13. ths action from Defendants;

1 7. An order granting such further and different relief as this Court may deem just and proper
15 lor that is necessary to make thePlaintiff who.

16 DEMANDFORJURYTRIAL
17 Plaintiffs demandsa jury tial on all causesofaction for which a jury is available under the law

18|| Dated: March 16, 2023 BAMIEH &Be SMETH, PLC
: 7/
0 Gs

of Biriich
2 Danielle De Smeth
” Alex De Arana-Lemich
2 Atiomeys for Plaintiffs
2
24

2
2%
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23
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